
Healthcare and Regulatory Subcommittee 
Wednesday, August 9, 2023 

Contents 
AGENDA .................................................................................................................................................... 2 

MINUTES ...................................................................................................................................................4

AGENCY PRESENTATION ..........................................................................................................................11

AGENCY CORRESPONDENCE ..................................................................................................................117

PUBLIC INPUT – AMENDED TESTIMONY ................................................................................................122

AGENCY OVERVIEW ...................................................................................................................................8

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 1



AGENDA 

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 2



 

10:30 a.m. 

Room 110 - Blatt Building  

Pursuant to Committee Rule 4.7, S.C. ETV shall be allowed access for internet 
streaming whenever technologically feasible.  

AGENDA  

  

I. Approval of Minutes  

II. Discussion of the study of the Department of Consumer Affairs 

III. Adjournment 

 

               HEALTHCARE AND REGULATORY 

       SUBCOMMITTEE   

Chairman Joseph H. “Joe” Jefferson, Jr.   

The Honorable April  Cromer   
The Honorable Roger K. Kirby   

The Honorable Thomas Duval “Val” Guest, Jr.   
The Honorable Marvin “Mark” Smith   

       Wednesday, August 9, 2023 

 

 

    AGENDA 

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 3



 
  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

MINUTES 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 4



Post Office Box 11867 
Columbia, South Carolina 29211 

Telephone: (803) 212-6810 • Fax: (803) 212-6811 
Room 228 Blatt Building 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

William M. “Bill” Hixon 
Joseph H. “Joe” Jefferson, Jr. 

Wendell Keith Jones 
Roger K. Kirby 

Josiah Magnuson 
John R. McCravy, III 

Chair Jeffrey E. “Jeff” Johnson First Vice-Chair Chris Wooten 

Timothy A. “Tim” McGinnis 
Adam M. Morgan 
Travis A. Moore 

Russell L. Ott 
Marvin R. Pendarvis 

Marvin “Mark” Smith 

Lewis Carter 
Research Director Charles L. Appleby IV 

Legal Counsel 

Cathy A. Greer 
Administration Coordinator 

Roland Franklin 
Counsel/Associate General Counsel for Litigation 

Riley E. McCullough 
Research Analyst 

William H. Bailey 
Gary S. Brewer 
April Cromer 

Kambrell H. Garvin 
Leon Douglas “Doug” Gilliam 
Thomas Duval “Val” Guest, Jr. 

 

Thursday, July 20, 2023 

10:30am 

Blatt Building Room 516 

 

Archived Video Available 

 

I. Pursuant to House Legislative Oversight Committee Rule 6.7, South Carolina ETV was allowed access 

for streaming the meeting. You may access an archived video of this meeting by visiting the South 

Carolina General Assembly’s website (http://www.scstatehouse.gov) and clicking on Committee 

Postings and Reports, then under House Standing Committees click on Legislative Oversight.  Then, 

click on Video Archives for a listing of archived videos for the Committee. 

 

Attendance 

 

I. The Healthcare and Regulatory Subcommittee meeting was called to order by Chair Joseph H. Jefferson, 

Jr. on Thursday, July 20, 2023, in Room 516 of the Blatt Building. Four subcommittee members (Chair 

Jefferson; Representative Marvin “Mark” Smith; Representative Roger Kirby; and Representative April 

Cromer) were present, and one absent (Representative Thomas Duval “Val” Guest, Jr.) for all or a 

portion of the meeting. 

Minutes 

 

I. House Rule 4.5 requires standing committees to prepare and make available to the public the minutes 

of committee meetings, but the minutes do not have to be verbatim accounts of meetings.  

 

 

 

 

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 5



 

2 

 

 

Approval of Minutes 

 

Representative Smith made a motion to approve the meeting minutes from the Monday, June 5,2023, meeting 

and Tuesday, June 27, 2023, meeting. A roll call vote was held, and the motion passed. 

 

Rep. Smith’s motion to approve 

meeting minutes. 
Yea Nay Not Voting 

Rep. Cromer ✓   

Rep. Guest   ✓ 

Rep. Kirby ✓   

Rep. Smith ✓   

Rep. Jefferson ✓   

 

Discussion of the Study of the Department on Aging 

I. Chair Jefferson states the purpose of the meeting, which is to continue the Committee’s study of the 

Department on Aging. No additional staff from the Department on Aging are sworn in prior to 

testimony.  

 

Director Connie Munn summarized her agency’s experience with the oversight process. She reiterated 

the role of the Department on Aging, the Area Agencies on Aging, and the provider network. Members 

of the Committee provided closing statements to conclude the study. 

 

I. Representative Roger Kirby made a motion to approve the subcommittee’s findings and 

recommendations as presented in the meeting packet. A roll call vote was held, and the motion passed. 

 

Rep. Kirby’s motion to approve 

findings and recommendation. 
Yea Nay Not Voting 

Rep. Cromer ✓   

Rep. Guest   ✓ 

Rep. Kirby ✓   

Rep. Smith ✓   

Rep. Jefferson ✓   

 

 

II. Subcommittee Chair Jefferson directed staff to draft the report and provided a copy of it to all 

subcommittee members by Friday, August 25, 2023. 

 

If any member would like to provide a written statement for inclusion in the 

report, the deadline for providing those statements will be 5:00 p.m. on Friday, August 18, 2023. 

 

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 6



 

3 

 

 

Subcommittee Chair Jefferson will provide notice to the full Committee that a Subcommittee Study is 

available for consideration, unless he receives a written request for another meeting from 

a subcommittee member prior to 5:00 p.m. on Friday, August 25, 2023. 

 

Deadlines are subject to change at the Subcommittee Chair’s discretion. 

 

 

Adjournment 

 

I. There being no further business, the meeting is adjourned. 

 

 

 

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 7



AGENCY OVERVIEW 

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 8



D E P A R T M E N T  O F  C O N S U M E R  A F F A I R S

A B O U T

The South Carolina Department of Consumer Affairs (“DCA”/ ”Department”) is the state’s consumer 
protection agency. Established in 1974, DCA has nearly fifty years of experience in protecting South 

Carolina consumers while recognizing those businesses that act honestly and fairly. The General 
Assembly has charged the DCA with administering, interpreting and enforcing over one hundred twenty 

statutes, including the S.C. Consumer Protection Code. Our mission is to protect consumers from 
inequities in the marketplace through advocacy, mediation, enforcement and education.

H I S T O R Y
• Prior to implementation of South Carolina Consumer Protection Code (SCCPC), 

little protection existed for consumers in the marketplace.
• The SCCPC is Title 37 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina.  It was adopted in 

1974 and became effective January 1, 1975.
• Major amendments were made to the SCCPC in 1976 and 1982.

• The 1976 amendments added the Chapter on Consumer Loans.
• The 1982 amendments deregulated interest rates in South 

Carolina.
• Significant amendments were made to the Chapter on Credit Insurance 

in 1999.
• Other states having a version of the uniform code are:

• Colorado, Maine, Indiana, Oklahoma, Iowa, Wisconsin, Utah, Kansas, 
and Wyoming.

O V E R V I E W

FY 2019 FY 2020 FY 2021 FY 2022 FY 2023

$3,592,743
$3,748,814

$3,907,444
$4,249,221

$4,500,399

Total Funding by Fiscal Year

45 120 statutes to
administer & 
enforce

State F T Es

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 9



L E A D E R S H I P

D I V I S I O N S

• Carolyn Lybarker began her career with the
agency in June 2004 as a law clerk, later becoming
a Staff Attorney.

• She was named Acting Director of Public
Information in July 2010 then Deputy Director of
Public Information, Consumer Services and
Education in October 2010.

• She served as Acting Administrator from February
2011- October 2011, when she was appointed
DCA’s fifth Administrator

Agency Head Commission
• The Commission on Consumer Affairs is composed

of nine members, one of whom is the Secretary of
State

• The General Assembly elects four other members
from outside the legislature

• The Governor appoints four members whose
appointments are confirmed by the Senate

The Commission on Consumer Affairs is the policy making and governing authority of the S.C. 
Department of Consumer Affairs, appoints the Administrator and is responsible for enforcement of the 

S.C. Consumer Protection Code.

The Department of Consumer Affairs is organized into six divisions.

Administration
• Provides support for the other Divisions including 

personnel, accounting, data processing and 
purchasing.

Consumer Services
• Takes and attempts to resolve consumer 

complaints against businesses, with due regard for 
the rights of the business.

• Handles complaints against industries we regulate, 
and those where no one else has jurisdiction.

Advocacy
• Represents the public at large in intervening in 

rate cases/filings. (Includes investor-owned 
utilities, homeowner's insurance and worker's 
compensation insurance).

• Intervenes in state and federal agency rulemaking 
process when attempting to fix prices for 
consumer goods or services.

Public Information and Education
• Serves as the main consumer education portal for 

consumers, business and the media.
• Informs consumers and businesses on their rights 

and responsibilities in the marketplace through 
traditional and alternative media distribution.

Identity Theft Unit
• Provides education and outreach to consumers 

across the state to increase public awareness 
about what identity theft is, the steps consumers 
can take to protect themselves, and what 
consumers should do in the event of identity 
theft.

Legal
• Helps the Administrator administer and enforce 

applicable laws.
• Processes regulatory filings, investigates potential 

issues, and brings enforcement actions.

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 10



AGENCY PRESENTATION 

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 11



DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS: 
AGENCY OVERVIEW

Carri Grube Lybarker
Administrator/ Consumer Advocate, SC Dept. of Consumer Affairs

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 12



Public Hearing 
Follow-Up

Closing Fees

Motor Clubs

Debit Card Processing Fees

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 13



Closing Fees

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 14



Issues Raised During Public Hearing

• Criteria DCA uses to determine if a fee over $225 is reasonable

• Time taken for DCA to approve a Closing Fee filing

• Information DCA can request to determine compliance with the closing fee law

• Essentially, what does the statute allow the agency to do?

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 15



2023 Act No. 45 (eff. 5/16/23)

https://www.scstatehouse.gov/sess125_2023-2024/prever/3952_20230505.htm 

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 16

https://www.scstatehouse.gov/sess125_2023-2024/prever/3952_20230505.htm


In a Nutshell 

•Expanded the Definition of a Closing Fee; Added one for Dealers 

•Tweaked the Filing Process

•Changed Department Review of Closing Fees Over $225

•Created a Framework for Reviews & Investigations

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 17



Definitions
• A closing fee is defined as a fee for recovery of a motor vehicle 

dealer's actual costs for all administrative and financial work needed 
to transfer and deliver the motor vehicle to the consumer including, but 
not limited to, compliance with all state, federal, and lender 
requirements, preparation and retrieval of documents, protection of the 
private personal information of the consumer, records retention, and 
storage costs.

• Dealer means a "motor vehicle dealer" as defined in Section 56-
15-10

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 18

https://www.scstatehouse.gov/code/t56c015.php#56-15-10
https://www.scstatehouse.gov/code/t56c015.php#56-15-10


Filing Process
• When to File? Prior to charging and when changing the fee. 

   Certificates are perpetual.

• How costs calculated? In accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles; Use preceding 12-month period; Actual costs and expenses falling into 
the listed, statutory categories:

Employee compensation, information processing, facilities costs, supplies, and materials 
associated with the following closing and delivery activities:

  (i) closing the motor vehicle sale or lease transaction, including any associated loan or 
 lease and transferring title of the motor vehicle to the consumer;

  (ii) delivering the motor vehicle to the consumer;

  (iii) complying with all state, federal, and lender requirements;

  (iv) preparing, storing, and retrieving transaction documents; and

  (v) protecting the private personal information of the consumer.

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 19



Fall within statutory cost category,  

Calculated using GAAP for preceding 12-month period,

Compare a particular dealer’s costs only with other similarly situated  
dealers

DCA Reasonableness Review

 • Checking to see if costs:

Meet definition of closing fee, 

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 20



DCA Reasonableness Review cont…
•  In determining reasonableness, shall accept and allow all of the dealer’s actual 

costs & expenses

• Timeframe for review 
• DCA has 15 days from complete application to provide written notice of intent 

to review 

• DCA has 30 days from complete application to issue a written order re findings 
that fee “not reasonable”

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 21



2021-2022 Closing Fee Turnaround Data

• DCA received 687 filings during 2022 renewal, 40% of which 
came in 2 weeks prior to the January 31st deadline.  

• 258 filed over $225. 83 requested an increase over the prior year.

• We reviewed/ requested additional information on 89. 
• Over half of those were processed by March 1. Nearly all by April 1. 

▪ 35 involved negotiations to a lower fee than initially filed. 

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 22



2022-2023 Closing Fee Turnaround Data

• DCA received 718 filings during 2022 renewal, 32% of which 
came in 2 weeks prior to the January 31st deadline.  

• 265 filed over $225. 126 requested an increase over the prior 
year.

• Average number of days to process over $225 = 10.4 days

• We reviewed/ requested additional information on 76. 
• 63% of those were processed by March 1. Nearly all by April 1. 

▪ 26 involved negotiations to a lower fee than initially filed. 

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 23



As of Count Min Fee Max Fee Avg Fee

6/1/2016 556 $   15.00 $ 1,000.00 $ 333.85 

8/1/2017 634 $   20.00 $    699.00 $ 256.15 

8/1/2018 760 $   25.00 $    738.50 $ 270.03 

8/1/2019 750 $   14.50 $    798.50 $ 277.89 

8/1/2020 791 $   14.50 $    798.50 $ 278.30 

8/1/2021 830 $   14.50 $    798.50 $ 280.91 

8/1/2022 825 $   14.50 $    798.50 $ 292.58 

8/1/2023 822 $   14.50 $ 1,815.13 $ 308.92 

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 24



Authority to Administer & Enforce

• (E)(1) The Department of Consumer Affairs shall administer and enforce 

the subject of motor vehicle dealer closing fees including, but not limited to, 

this section. The department shall make and promulgate such rules and 

regulations relating to motor vehicle dealer closing fees to administer and 

enforce this section. The department shall have access to a motor vehicle 

dealer's books, accounts, and records to determine if the dealer is 

complying with the provisions of this section, and this financial 

information must be kept confidential and privileged from disclosure, except 

as provided by law. (S.C. Code Ann. 37-2-307)

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 25



Authority to Administer & Enforce cont…

• Limited to extent necessary to determine dealer compliance         
with:

• Disclosure requirements (advertisement and on contract)

• Accuracy of dealer’s cost and expense information

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 26



Authority to Administer & Enforce cont…

• Reviews & Investigations:
• Receipt of complaint or other credible evidence re closing fees

• DCA will provide written notice to dealer. Notice shall:
• include sufficient info to identify related documents

• request only info reasonably related to alleged violation

• state dealer may provide written response

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 27



Authority to Administer & Enforce cont…

• Reviews & Investigations:

Dealer has 45 
days to respond

If dealer fails to 
respond within 60 

days, APA 
proceedings 

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 28



SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 29



• Dealer must refund excess charge paid by 
consumer within 30 days of notice from DCA

If 
intentional:

1st violation: written warning notice

2nd violation: $500 
penalty

3rd violation: up to 
$1,000 penalty

• Cumulative penalties shall not exceed 
$100,000 in 12-month period

4th & subsequent 
violations: up to $5,000 

penalty

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 30



Example of Proper Closing Fee Disclosure under prior law 

Recent price drop!

Price        $30,500*

*Fineprintfineprintfineprintfineprintfineprint. Includes $500 closing fee. Excludes 
tax, tag, title, registration.

Sales Contract 

Price of Vehicle $ 30,000.00 

Closing Fee $ 500.00 

Official Fees  

Sales Tax/IMF 
 

 

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 31



Example of Proper Closing Fee Disclosure eff 5/16/23

Recent price drop!

Price        $30,000*

*Fineprintfineprintfineprintfineprintfineprint. Excludes $500 closing fee, tax, tag, 
title, registration.

Sales Contract 

Price of Vehicle $ 30,000.00 

Closing Fee $ 500.00 

Official Fees  

Sales Tax/IMF 
 

 

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 32



Motor Clubs & Debit Card Fees

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 33



Prior to 1982

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 34



Prior to 1982

South Carolina
• 36% for very small loans

• 21% for slightly larger loans

• 15% for larger loans

1982 National Prime Rate

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 35



General Assembly Response

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 36



Filing: Maximum Rate Schedules
CONSUMER CREDIT SALES:

• Can charge up to 18% without doing anything

• To charge above 18%, must file MRS and post it in a conspicuous place

CONSUMER LOANS:

• Any lender can charge up to 12% without doing anything

• Supervised or Restricted Lenders can charge up to 18%

• To charge above 18%, must file MRS and post it in a conspicuous place

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 37



“Finance Charge”

• Any charge imposed because of the extension of credit = 
a finance charge 
• unless the charge is specifically allowed as a permissible additional 

charge

• SCCPC specifically permits certain additional charges

• Additional charges: 
• can be added to the principal amount of the debt 

• do not have to be made a part of the finance charge

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 38



Permissible Additional Charges

• Official Fees and Taxes
• Fees and charges actually are or will be paid to public officials to 

perfect or release security interest related to credit sale, lease, or 
loan

• DMV fees ($15 title fee)

• Premiums paid for insurance in lieu of perfecting a security 
interest

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 39



Permissible Additional Charges

Permissible Additional Charges

• Include in principal amount

• Don’t include in finance charge

Not Permissible…

• Include in finance charge

• Don’t include in principal 
amount

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 40



Car $8,167
Insurance Premium $380
Interest $363 

Permissible Additional Charge

Finance Charge Amount 
Financed

Total Payments

$ 363 $ 8,547 $ 8,910

Not Permissible…

Finance Charge Amount 
Financed

Total Payments

$ 743 $8,167 $8,910

Car & 
Insurance 
Premium

Interest & 
Insurance 
Premium

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 41



SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 42



SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 43



SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 44



SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 45



Motor Club and Other Ancillary Products
October 1, 1976

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 46



Motor Club and Other Ancillary Products

1976-2007

• DCA issues informal opinions 
permitting auto and home 
security systems be sold 
pursuant to 3.202-7608 
framework

2007-2008

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 47



Motor Club and Other Ancillary Products

2009-2014

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 48



3rd Party Processing 
Fees

Cost to process payment made 
on a consumer transaction:

if imposed directly or indirectly 
by creditor 

= finance charge.

Administrative Interpretation 
3.109,503-1603 

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 49



3rd Party Processing Fees: Factors Considered

Whether or not 
the fee imposed 
by a third party 
payment 
processor is 
absorbed by the 
creditor. 

01

Appearance the 
consumer does 
not have a 
choice in utilizing 
a payment 
processor and/or 
who to utilize as 
a payment 
processor 

02

Co-branding 
(creditor and 
third party 
processor) of 
advertising, 
contracts, or 
other documents 
provided to the 
consumer in the 
transaction, or 
websites

03

The relationship 
between the 
creditor and 
processor, 
including any 
payments, 
referrals or other 
consideration 
exchanged for 
business

04
Whether the 
service is a “self-
service” or if the 
service can only 
be utilized 
through the 
creditor 

05

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 50



SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 51



DEPARTMENT OF CONSUMER AFFAIRS: 
AGENCY OVERVIEW

Carri Grube Lybarker
Administrator/ Consumer Advocate, SC Dept. of Consumer Affairs

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 52



SCDCA 
Overview

Created when the SC Consumer 
Protection Code was adopted in 1974, 
becoming effective Jan. 1, 1975. 

45 FTEs | 1 office location

120 statutes to 
administer & enforce, + 
accompanying 
regulations

Includes Title 37, 
SC Consumer 
Protection Code

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 53



SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 54



Organizational Structure

Commission on 
Consumer Affairs

Administrator

Council of Advisors

Consumer Services

Administration

Advocacy

Legal

Public Information 
& Education

Identity Theft Unit

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 55



SCDCA Overview continued…

The Department is headed by the Administrator:

• The Administrator is hired/appointed by the 
Commission on Consumer Affairs.  The Commission 
is made up of 9 members: 
• four appointed by the Governor, 

• four elected by the General Assembly, and 

• the Secretary of State

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 56



Commission on Consumer Affairs

Commissioner Profession Began Serving Seat Type | Term Expiration Date

David Campbell, Chair Chernoff Newman
  Vice-Chair and COO   Aug. 30, 2009

Governor’s Appointee | Aug. 30, 2021

Mark Hammond SC Secretary of State Elected Official, Ex Officio 

W. Fred Pennington, Jr. Co-owner of Lawrence Fabrication, Inc.   
  Treasurer/ Vice President. 

April 2, 2014 Governor’s Appointee | Sept. 20, 2019

James E. Lewis Attorney May 8, 2019 General Assembly | June 30, 2023

Renee I. Madden Attorney May 8, 2019 General Assembly | June 30, 2023

Jack Pressly Medical Consultant May 14, 2019 Governor’s Appointee | Sept. 30, 2022

Vacant - March 6, 2023 General Assembly | June 30, 2023

Vacant - June 30, 2023 General Assembly | June 30, 2023

Vacant – September 4, 2011 Governor’s Appointee SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 57



SCDCA Overview continued…

The Administrator also has a Council of Advisors from most areas 
of the creditor community to advise her on credit issues.  

• The members of the Council are appointed by the Governor, and 

• The Governor appoints the chair of the Council

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 58



Council of Advisors on Consumer Credit
Council Member Profession Began Serving Term Expiration 

Sharon Crawley Bramlett, Chair Attorney March 17, 2001 Aug. 15, 2018

Kristin M. Bastian, Vice Chair Grants & Operations Director at Origin SC & Credit 
Counselor

Nov. 3, 2015 Aug. 15, 2017

Randall C. Cole VP of Clinical Operations for SC OVP Health Aug. 9, 2016 Aug. 15, 2020

Alethea Gadson Branch Manager at South State Bank July 2005 Aug. 15, 2018

James L. Godwin Owner of Godwin Motors Aug. 9, 2016 Aug. 15, 2020

Ruth Ellen Hardee Financial Administrator at Home Builders Association of 
Greater Columbia

Apr. 2004 Aug. 15, 2019

Victor C. "Chip" McLeod III Senior VP/ Financial Advisor for Merrill Lynch Aug. 17, 2015 Aug. 15, 2019

Virginia “Dale”  K. Palmer "1st Franklin Financial Corporation Senior Vice President 
over Operations Administration"

Aug. 17, 2015 Aug. 15, 2019

Scott C. Rhodes GM for Galeana Nov. 13, 2015 Aug. 15, 2019

James “Dan” Walters CEO of Credit Central Aug. 14, 2014 Aug. 15, 2017

Robert “Bob” J. Wilkes CEO and President KB Kitchen Aug. 9, 2016 Aug. 15, 2018

5 Vacancies SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 59



SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 60



Consumer Services Division

• The Consumer Services Division takes and 
attempts to resolve consumer complaints 
against businesses, with due regard for the 
rights of the business.

• Handles complaints against industries we regulate, and those where no 
one else has jurisdiction.

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 61



Consumer Services Division continued…

• The Services Division receives approximately 
4,000 written complaints annually.

• The Division has consistently resolved about 
85% of the complaints in a satisfactory 
manner.

• Over $1 million to consumers in credits, 
refunds & adjustments annually

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 62



Administration Division

• Provides support for the other Divisions including personnel, 
accounting, data processing and purchasing

• Houses the Administrator’s Office:
• Issues interpretations

• Drafts legislation, regulations

• Advises the Governor and Legislature on 
issues affecting consumers

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 63



Represents the public at large in intervening in 
rate cases/filings. 

(Includes investor-owned utilities, homeowner's insurance and 
worker's compensation insurance)

Intervenes in state and federal agency 
rulemaking process when attempting to fix 

prices for consumer goods or services

Consumer 
Advocacy 
Division

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 64



Legal Division

Helps the Administrator administer and enforce applicable laws

Processes regulatory filings

Investigates potential issues 

Brings enforcement actions

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 65



Public Information Division
• Serves as the main consumer education portal for consumers, 

business and media 

• Makes presentations and sponsors webinars on ID Theft, debt 
collection, foreclosures, credit and other popular topics 

• Answers hundreds of calls per month pertaining to consumer scams 
and laws and disseminates press releases and consumer education 
brochures

• Launched SCDCA-TV on YouTube and uses Twitter, Facebook, 
Nextdoor

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 66



Identity Theft Unit Field scam reports

Answer identity theft 
questions

Assist in identity theft 
mitigation

Outreach/education

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 67



Background

History

Laws

Snapshots 

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 68



History of Consumer Credit Laws

1968

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 69



History of Consumer Credit continued…

1976

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 70



SC CONSUMER PROTECTION CODE (SCCPC) - HISTORY

• Prior to implementation of SCCPC, little protection existed for 
consumers in the marketplace

• The SCCPC is Title 37 of the Code of Laws of South Carolina.  It 
was adopted in 1974 and became effective January 1, 1975.

• Major amendments were made to the SCCPC in 1976 and 
1982.

• The 1976 amendments added the Chapter on Consumer Loans

• The 1982 amendments deregulated interest rates in SC

• Significant amendments were made to the Chapter on 
Credit Insurance in 1999

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 71



SCCPC - HISTORY continued…

The Consumer Protection Code is a version of the Uniform 
Consumer Credit Code (UCCC or U3C).

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 72



DCA’s 1st  
Organizational 
Chart

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 73



Simplify, clarify 
and modernize 
consumer 
credit law

01

Provide rate 
ceilings to 
assure an 
adequate 
supply of 
credit to 
consumers 

02

Educate 
consumers 
and foster 
competition 
among 
businesses so 
that 
consumers 
may obtain 
credit at 
reasonable 
cost

03

Protect 
consumers 
against unfair 
practices, 
while having 
due regard for 
the interests 
of legitimate 
and 
scrupulous 
creditors

04
Permit and 
encourage the 
development 
of fair and 
economically 
sound 
consumer 
credit 
practices

05

Conform the 
regulation of 
consumer 
credit 
transactions to 
the policies of 
the Federal 
Consumer 
Credit 
Protection Act

06
Make the law 
uniform 
among the 
various 
jurisdictions

07

SCCPC – PURPOSES                                      § 37-1-102

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 74



SCCPC – ADMINISTRATOR RESPONSIBILITIES         § 37-6-117

Process consumer complaints (intake, mediate, refer)Process

Cooperate with/assist SC Attorney General and other federal, state and local 
agencies dealing with consumer protectionCooperate

Educate consumers Educate

Encourage honest, fair business practices, and public responsibilityEncourage

Recommend new laws and amendments to protect consumersRecommend

Initiate actions or otherwise represent the consumer interestInitiate

Develop specified educational materialDevelop

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 75



SCCPC – CHAPTER BREAKDOWN

Chapter 1 – 

General provisions and 
definitions

Chapter 2 – 

Consumer credit sales 
(including home 

solicitations)

Chapter 3 – 

Consumer loans

Chapter 4 – 

Consumer credit 
insurance

Chapter 5 – 

Remedies and penalties 
(including 

unconscionability 
provisions)

Chapter 6 – 
Administration

Chapter 7 – 

Consumer credit 
counseling

Chapter 10 – 

Miscellaneous loan 
provisions 

(attorney/insurance 
preference, etc.)

Chapter 11 – 

Continuing care 
retirement communities

Chapter 13 – 

Subleasing and loan 
assumption of motor 

vehicles

Chapter 15 – 

Prizes and gifts

Chapter 16 – 

Pre-paid legal services

Chapter 17 – 

Prescription drug 
discount cards

Chapter 20 – 

Identity theft protection

Chapter 21 – 

Telephone privacy 
protection

Chapter 22 – 

Mortgage lending

Chapter 23 – 

High-cost home loans

Chapter 25 – 

Dispensing of 
ophthalmic contact lens

Chapter 30 – 

Guaranteed Asset 
Protection

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 76



SCCPC – KEY DEFINITIONS

§ 37-1-301(10) - “the buyer, lessee or debtor to whom credit is extended in a consumer credit 
transaction.”

Consumer

§ 37-1-301(13) - person who grants credit in a credit transaction, or an assignee of a creditor's right to 
payment

Creditor 

§ 37-1-301(11) - a consumer credit sale (§ 37-2-104), consumer loan (§ 37-3-104), consumer lease 
(§ 37-2-106), or consumer rental-purchase agreement (§ 37-2-701)

Transaction

*Must be entered 
into for a 

consumer purpose 
(personal, family 

or household use)*

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 77



SCCPC - EXPANDING AUTHORITY

• Initially created to take consumer complaints, regulate consumer credit 
marketplace and intervene in certain ratemaking actions

• Addition of regulated industries over time

+4 (Motor Clubs, Physical Fitness, Pawn 
Brokers, Mortgage Brokers)

Mid-Late 1980s

+3 (Continuing Care Retirement Communities, 
Athlete Agents, Professional Employer 
Organizations)

Early 1990s

+3 (Prepaid Legal, Discount Medical Plan 
Organizations, Motor Vehicle Closing Fees)

Early 2000s

+3 (Mortgage Loan Originators, Credit 
Counseling, Preneed Funeral Contracts)

Mid 2000s

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 78



OTHER LAWS

Athlete Agents Loan Brokers Mortgage Brokers
Motor Club 

Services

Security Breaches 
(Businesses & 
Public Bodies)

Pawnbrokers
Physical Fitness 

Services
Preneed Funeral 

Contracts

Professional 
Employer 

Organizations

Complaints: 
Homeowners 

Associations & 
Cable

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 79



Required 
Reports

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 80



Required 
Reports

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 81



Required 
Reports

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 82



REGULATIONS- 
CHAPTER 28

41 regulations 

General agency 
Operations, 
Filings, Specific 
regulated 
industries

Review annually 

2013- deleted 8 

regulations &  

amended 10; 

2018- amended 5. 

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 83



SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 84



SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 85



SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 86



SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 87



SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 88



SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 89



SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 90



SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 91



SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 92



Challenges

Budget

Staff Retention

Public Awareness

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 93



Challenges – Budget 

• Traditionally, majority of funding came from general funds

• Early 2000s, shifted

2004

73%

2005

58%

2012

22%

2023

45%

%  o f  f u n d i n g  f r o m  g e n e r a l  f u n d  b y  y e a r

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 94



Challenges – Budget continued…
75% base appropriations 

cut over 4 years

General fund cut 50% for FY11

10% for FY12

FY10- DCA implemented a 
Reduction in Force (RIF)

Resulted in the loss of 40% of staff

Staff furloughed 29 days 
in FY 07, 08 & 09

Also cut costs by moving into a 
state-owned building 

(January 2011)

Turning in several leased vehicles

Ceasing/ limiting certain services, 
including Buyer Beware List, 
satellite office locations and 

Mortgage Fraud Hotline

These factors resulted in a severe depletion of 
resources, including overall agency funding, human 

capital and technological enhancements. 

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 95



Challenges – Budget continued…

General Fund Increases for FY13- FY16

FY13 Increase - 
$124,000

FY14 Increase - 
$466,861 

(creation of 
Identity Theft 

Unit)

FY15 Increase - 
$82,000 (DTO)

FY16 Increase - 
$33,823 (New 

FTE)

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 96



SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 97



SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 98



SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 99



SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 100



Challenges – Staff Retention 

Different problem: STAFF RETENTION

• Traditionally, persons hired by the Department remained on staff 
for decades, often until retirement. 

• Due to hiring fluctuations over the years, several staffers became 
eligible for retirement during FY15. 

• Since then, average 15% turnover each FY

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 101



Challenges – Staff 
Retention

• Traditionally, persons hired by the Department 
remained on staff for decades, often until retirement. 

• 15% of agency staff retired in FY15

20%

9.80%

15.40%

12%

14.80%

10%

21.43%

17.23%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

FY16 FY17 FY18 FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23

SCDCA Turnover Rate by Fiscal Year

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 102



Challenges – Staff Retention continued…

• Majority leave for jobs with other state agencies or in public 
sector

• Difficulties:
• Finding qualified candidates

• Time hiring process takes away from regular job duties

• Learning curve
• Complex, regulatory statutes. Investment in training to build knowledge, 

etc.

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 103



Challenges – 
Staff Retention 
continued…

2014 Digital Government 
Achievement Award 
Best in Class in the 

Government-to-Citizen 
category

DTO administered 
computers/host 
systems

2015

Online Complaint 
System

2014 (SC.GOV)

Online Licensing 
System

Launched June 
2016, 
completed 
March 2021

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 104



Challenges – Staff Retention continued…

Internal Reorganization: 

• Silver lining (assess current job duties and overall operations 
and identify gaps and/or improvements)
• Legal/ Advocacy

• All regulatory programs were placed under the supervision of a single 
Deputy, as opposed to two. 

• With implementation of new licensing database, all programs in one Division

• Advocacy focus on core mission representing consumer interest in 
ratemaking proceedings, etc.

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 105



Challenges – Staff Retention continued…

Internal Reorganization: 
• Services/ Legal

• Create pathways for complaints: regulated vs. 
unregulated (falling within DCA’s jurisdiction)

• Complaints= id illegal activity, best suited in Legal
• Separate voluntary mediation from 

enforcement/compliance

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 106



Challenges – Public Awareness

Consumers

01
Businesses

02
Potential 
Partners

03

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 107



Awards

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 108



Agency Awards

SC State Budget & Control Board 
awarded the Department for 
Demonstrating Commitment to 
Affirmative Action

1984

National Association of Consumer 
Credit Administrators (NACCA) 
awarded the Department an Award 
of Achievement for Teaching 
Consumers Through Technology

1984

NACCA awarded the Department a 
Recognition for Excellence - Best 
Use of Technology

1985

NACCA awarded the Department a 
Recognition for Excellence for 
Outstanding Electronic Media

1989

National Consumer Education 
Materials Contest/FDA – Certificate 
of Appreciation

1990

Nikon awarded the Department the 
Government Award Winner for the 
National Consumers Week Contest

1996

Office of Insurance Services 
awarded the Department with 
Excellence in Communication - In 
Recognition of Perseverance in the 
Face of Extreme Adversity

1997

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 109



Agency Awards continued…

NACCA awarded the Department an 
Excellence in Consumer Education 
for its “Some Facts about Insuring 
Your Automobile in SC” document 
with versions for sight and vision 
impaired car owners

1999

SC State Library awarded the 
Department with a Notable 
Document award for "What Teen 
Drivers Need to Know About 
Automobile Insurance & Highway 
Safety"

2000

NACCA awarded the Department an 
Excellence in Consumer Education 
for the Department's Online Chat 
with State Consumer Advocate

2000

National Consumer Protection Week, 
Consumer Education Contest Winner

2000

Southeastern Association of Area 
Agencies on Aging awarded the 
Department with its Outstanding 
Community Service award

2003

NACCA awarded the Department as 
Agency of the Year for setting the 
standard for service, access, success & 
progress

2005

NACCA awarded the Department 
with the Accepting the Challenge of 
Excellence award for the 
Department's Consumer Alert

2007

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 110



Agency Awards continued…

NACCA awarded the Department with the 
Accepting the Challenge of Excellence 
award for An Outstanding Comprehensive 
Program of Consumer Education, 
Legislation & Enforcement

2008

The SC Press Association awarded the 
Department 1st Place for its Public Relations 
Campaign, 1st Place for Innovative Concepts, 
1st Place for Event Marketing

2008

BBB Central SC & Charleston awarded the 
Department for Outstanding Service to SC 
Consumers

2010

SC State Library awarded the Department 
with a Notable Document award for its 
Consumer Alert

2011

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 111



Agency Awards continued…

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 112



Agency Awards continued…

Equal Employment Opportunity 
Forum award: SCDCA achieved 
100% Goal for Affirmative Action

2017

SC Human Affairs Commission 
awarded the Department for 
Achieving Top Ten Status - 
Demonstrating Equal Employment 
Opportunity

2017

SC State Library awarded the 
Department with a Notable 
Document award for its Consumer 
Alert: Holiday Shopping Edition 
publication

2018

SCDCA's publication "COVID-19 
Spotlight: How to Spot a Scammer" 
won a SC State Library 2020 Notable 
State Document Award

2020

SC State Library awarded the 
Department with a Notable 
Document award for the 
Department's website: 
consumer.sc.gov

2023

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 113



SCDCA’s Website

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 114



SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 115



Contact

Carri Grube Lybarker
clybarker@scconsumer.gov

(803) 734-4297/4233

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 116

mailto:clybarker@scconsumer.gov


AGENCY CORRESPONDENCE 

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 117



SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 118



SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 119



SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 120



SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 121



SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 122



SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 123



SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 124



 
  
 
 
  
 
 

PUBLIC INPUT – AMENDED TESTIMONY 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 125



SC House Legislative Oversight Committee Page 126


	HLOC Day 1-SCDCA Follow Up -Overview_ final.pdf
	Slide 1: Department of Consumer Affairs: Agency Overview
	Slide 2: Public Hearing Follow-Up
	Slide 3
	Slide 4: Issues Raised During Public Hearing
	Slide 5: 2023 Act No. 45 (eff. 5/16/23)
	Slide 6: In a Nutshell 
	Slide 7
	Slide 8
	Slide 9: DCA Reasonableness Review   
	Slide 10
	Slide 11: 2021-2022 Closing Fee Turnaround Data
	Slide 12: 2022-2023 Closing Fee Turnaround Data
	Slide 13
	Slide 14: Authority to Administer & Enforce
	Slide 15: Authority to Administer & Enforce cont…
	Slide 16: Authority to Administer & Enforce cont…
	Slide 17: Authority to Administer & Enforce cont…
	Slide 18
	Slide 19
	Slide 20: Example of Proper Closing Fee Disclosure under prior law 
	Slide 21: Example of Proper Closing Fee Disclosure eff 5/16/23
	Slide 22
	Slide 23: Prior to 1982
	Slide 24: Prior to 1982
	Slide 25: General Assembly Response
	Slide 26: Filing: Maximum Rate Schedules
	Slide 27: “Finance Charge”
	Slide 28: Permissible Additional Charges
	Slide 29: Permissible Additional Charges
	Slide 30: Car $8,167 Insurance Premium $380 Interest $363 
	Slide 31
	Slide 32
	Slide 33
	Slide 34
	Slide 35: Motor Club and Other Ancillary Products
	Slide 36: Motor Club and Other Ancillary Products
	Slide 37: Motor Club and Other Ancillary Products
	Slide 38: 3rd Party Processing Fees
	Slide 39: 3rd Party Processing Fees: Factors Considered
	Slide 40
	Slide 41: Department of Consumer Affairs: Agency Overview
	Slide 42: SCDCA Overview
	Slide 43
	Slide 44: Organizational Structure
	Slide 45: SCDCA Overview continued…
	Slide 46: Commission on Consumer Affairs
	Slide 47: SCDCA Overview continued…
	Slide 48: Council of Advisors on Consumer Credit
	Slide 49
	Slide 50: Consumer Services Division
	Slide 51: Consumer Services Division continued…
	Slide 52: Administration Division
	Slide 53: Consumer Advocacy Division
	Slide 54: Legal Division
	Slide 55
	Slide 56: Identity Theft Unit 
	Slide 57: Background
	Slide 58: History of Consumer Credit Laws
	Slide 59: History of Consumer Credit continued…
	Slide 60: SC Consumer Protection Code (SCCPC) - History
	Slide 61: SCCPC - History continued…
	Slide 62: DCA’s 1st  Organizational Chart
	Slide 63
	Slide 64: SCCPC – Administrator Responsibilities         § 37-6-117
	Slide 65: SCCPC – Chapter Breakdown
	Slide 66: SCCPC – Key Definitions
	Slide 67: SCCPC - Expanding Authority
	Slide 68: Other Laws
	Slide 69: Required Reports
	Slide 70: Required Reports
	Slide 71: Required Reports
	Slide 72: Regulations- Chapter 28
	Slide 73
	Slide 74
	Slide 75
	Slide 76
	Slide 77
	Slide 78
	Slide 79
	Slide 80
	Slide 81
	Slide 82: Challenges
	Slide 83: Challenges – Budget 
	Slide 84: Challenges – Budget continued…
	Slide 85: Challenges – Budget continued…
	Slide 86
	Slide 87
	Slide 88
	Slide 89
	Slide 90: Challenges – Staff Retention 
	Slide 91: Challenges – Staff Retention
	Slide 92: Challenges – Staff Retention continued…
	Slide 93: Challenges – Staff Retention continued…
	Slide 94: Challenges – Staff Retention continued…
	Slide 95: Challenges – Staff Retention continued…
	Slide 96: Challenges – Public Awareness
	Slide 97: Awards
	Slide 98: Agency Awards
	Slide 99: Agency Awards continued…
	Slide 100: Agency Awards continued…
	Slide 101: Agency Awards continued…
	Slide 102: Agency Awards continued…
	Slide 103: SCDCA’s Website
	Slide 104
	Slide 105: Contact

	Consumer Affairs Overview (003).pdf
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2




